

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

# Tobacco Treatment Education Module for Nurses Working in the Inpatient Psychiatric Setting

Marchell Rene Spielmann Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Nursing Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Marchell René Spielmann

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Courtney Nyange, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty
Dr. Susan Hayden, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Dr. Linda Matheson, University Reviewer, Nursing Faculty

Walden University 2019

# Abstract

Tobacco Treatment Education Module for Nurses Working in the Inpatient Psychiatric

Setting

by

Marchell René Spielmann

MSN, Gonzaga University, 2006 Excelsior College, 1996

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

August 2019

#### **Abstract**

Tobacco use among people with mental illness remain a significant problem in the western United States. At the project site, there is widespread tobacco use among patients with mental illness and lack of training for nurses to address the issue. The purpose of this project was to educate nurses working in the acute psychiatric setting about evidence-based tobacco treatment interventions. The practice-focused question addressed whether a tobacco education program would increase nurses' knowledge, confidence, and skills to provide tobacco treatment interventions to patients with a mental illness. Selfdetermination theory and the transtheoretical model of change provided the theoretical framework for the project. Evidence was obtained from a comprehensive literature search. The Psychiatry RX for Change education modules were used to implement the education intervention. Nine participants completed pre- and post-test knowledge-based questionnaires and the Skills and Confidence for Smoking Cessation Tool survey. Results from GraphPad t-test analysis indicated a statistically significant increase in perceived knowledge, skills, and confidence among nurses related to tobacco cessation treatment. The mean knowledge pre-test scores were 10.3 and the mean for the post-test score was 14.7. The mean on the pre-survey scores for the nine confidence questions was 16, and the mean on the postscores was 23. The mean obtained on pre-survey scores for the six skills questions was 11.0, and the mean obtained on the post-survey was 18.0. Findings support the use of tobacco education for nurses to improve tobacco treatment offered to patients. The implications of the project for positive social change are that results may be used to improve the quality of life and health outcomes for the patient population.

# Tobacco Treatment Education Module for Nurses Working in the Inpatient Psychiatric Setting

by

Marchell René Spielmann

MSN, Gonzaga University, 2006 BSN, Excelsior College, 1999

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

August 2019

# Dedication

This process could not have been accomplished without the love and support of my wonderful family, especially my daughter Samantha, son Jon, and husband Ron, who remind me each day of the bountifulness of my life in the presence of God.

# Acknowledgments

I wish to acknowledge those who have lent their enduring support and mentorship throughout this process, including Dr. Courtney Nyange (committee chair) and Dr. Aaron Edwards (mentor/preceptor). Your contributions have made this journey a wonderful experience.

# Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Nature of the Project	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose	3
Nature of the Doctoral Project	4
Significance	5
Summary	6
Section 2: Background and Context	7
Concepts, Models, and Theories	8
Self-Determination Theory	8
Transtheoretical Model of Change (TTM)	11
Relevance to Nursing Practice	14
Local Background and Context	17
Federal Guidelines	20
Definition of Terms	22
Role of the DNP Student	23
Role of the Project Team	23
Summary	24
Section 3: Collection and Analysis of Evidence	25
Practice-Focused Question	25
Sources of Evidence	29

Participants	29
Procedures	30
Protections	31
Analysis and Synthesis	31
Summary	32
Section 4: Findings and Recommendations	33
Findings and Implications	34
Findings	34
Unanticipated Implications or Findings	36
Implications	36
Social Change	37
Recommendations	37
Contribution of the Doctoral Project Team	38
Strengths and Limitations of the Project	38
Strengths	38
Limitations	39
Recommendations for Future Research	40
Summary	41
Section 5: Dissemination Plan	42
Analysis of Self	42
Practitioner	42
Scholar	43

Project Developer	44
Summary	44
References	46
Appendix A: Permission to Use the Skills and Confidence for Smoking Cessation	
Tool	61
Appendix B: Recruitment	63
Appendix C: Smoking Knowledge Tool	65
Appendix D: Skills and Confidence for Smoking Cessation Tool	72

# List of Tables

Table 1. Unpaired Sample Statistics for Pretest and Posttest Scores for Knowledge Test3	5
Table 2. Unpaired Sample Statistics for Pretest and Postest Scores for Skills and	
Confidence	6

# Section 1: Nature of the Project

Tobacco use is the most significant preventable cause of death and disease in the United States (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2014). In 2016, approximately 38 million Americans smoked cigarettes nearly every day, which means 1 out of every 6 adults in the United States smoked cigarettes. Between 2005 and 2016, smoking trends have declined. In 2005, 20.9% of adults older than 18 years of age smoked cigarettes, and this percentage decreased to 15.5% in 2016 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2018). However, cigarette smoking rates remain high in certain groups such as men; adults ages 25 to 64; less educated persons; those below the poverty line; Midwest and South residents; the uninsured or Medicare insured; disabled persons; those suffering from serious psychiatric problems; American Indians; Alaska Natives; and those who are multiracial or lesbian, gay, or bisexual (CDC, 2018).

Twenty-five percent of adults in the United States have some form of a mental health disorder or substance use disorder (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA, 2018]. The disproportionate number of adult smokers who also suffer from mental health issues is alarming. People with a mental health disorder smoke more frequently than those without a mental health disorder and consume 40% of all cigarettes smoked by adults (CDC, 2018). According to the 2013-2014 National Survey on Drug Use and Health Survey, 36.5% of adults with any mental health disorder reported current use of tobacco compared to 25.3% of adults with no mental health disorder (SAMHSA, 2015). Between 2004 and 2011, the decline in smoking among

individuals with mental health disorder was significantly less than among those without a mental health disorder (Cook et al., 2014).

Smoking in people with a mental illness is a significant problem. The United States spends \$170 billion on medical care to treat smoking-related diseases in adults (Xu, Bishop, Kennedy, Simpson, & Pechacek, 2015). The focus of this project was to provide a tobacco education module to nurses working in the acute psychiatric inpatient setting with the goal to increase knowledge, skills, and confidence in providing tobacco treatment interventions.

In support of Walden University's mission to promote positive social change, my project involved staff education on tobacco treatment. Social change was achieved by improving the quality of the interactions between nurses and patients regarding tobacco treatment and potentially improving the quality of life and health outcomes for the population. Informed interactions may change relationships and transform the institutional culture to one that is knowledgeable of the harmful effects of tobacco, and that acknowledges the importance of educating patients about living a healthy, tobaccofree lifestyle (Dunfey, 2017).

#### **Problem Statement**

The doctoral project addressed the local nursing practice problem of widespread tobacco use in the mental health community and lack of training for nurses in the workplace to address the issue. The evaluation and treatment center provides mental health care to involuntarily committed individuals and is smoke-free. A personal estimate is that 80% of the patients, and 50% of the nurses are smokers in need of tobacco

treatment. The hospital smoking ban provided an opportunity to address unmet tobacco treatment needs in this patient population. Nurses who smoke are less likely to offer tobacco treatment interventions, which makes it essential to provide tobacco treatment education to nurses in the workplace.

Tobacco use remains the leading cause of preventable death and disease within the state. Data from the annual Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System indicated that individuals with more than 14 days of poor mental health composed 27.5% of smokers; 58.5% attempted to quit in the past year, and 72.8% were advised to quit by a healthcare provider (Washington State Department of Health, 2017).

# **Purpose**

I sought to address the practice gap between the need to provide tobacco treatment to persons with a mental health disorder and adequate training for nurses to provide tobacco treatment interventions. Sixty-eight percent of adult smokers reported in 2015 that they wanted to quit smoking, less than 1 in 10 smokers completely quit, and less than one-third of persons attempting to quit used evidence-based cessation counseling and or medications (Babb, Malarcher, Schauer, Asman, & Jamal, 2017). Practice guidelines recommend that every clinician consistently identify and document tobacco use status at each patient encounter and provide interventions for those who use tobacco. This includes smokers with psychiatric disorders (Fiore et al., 2008; U.S. Preventive Services Task Force [USPSTF], 2017). The use of cessation counseling and medication increases quit rates, especially when they are combined (Fiore et al., 2008).

There is a lack of educational programs providing tobacco cessation content to nurses (VanDevanter et al., 2017). This knowledge gap contributes to nurses' inadequate experience in providing tobacco cessation interventions. Existing barriers to nurses providing tobacco interventions include smoking in the profession, lack of professional leadership, and lack of education and skills (Forman, Harris, Lorencatto, McEwen, & Duaso, 2017; Rezk-Hanna et al., 2018; Sharpe, Alsahlanee, Ward, & Doyle, 2018; VanDevanter et al., 2017). Nursing-delivered smoking cessation interventions are effective in assisting clients in quitting (Carson et al., 2012; Fiore et al., 2008; Rice, Heath, Livingstone-Banks, & Hartmann-Boyce, 2017; Sheffer, Barone, & Anders, 2011). There is a demand for improvements in formal education for nurses while in school and opportunities afforded nurses in the workforce to increase their knowledge, skills, and confidence to provide tobacco interventions to fill this knowledge gap.

The practice-focused question was the following: In the inpatient psychiatric setting, would a staff education module for psychiatric nurses increase nurses' knowledge, confidence, skills to provide patient education to patients with mental illness using the Psychiatry RX for Change curriculum? The current standard of care at the site is to conduct a brief tobacco history and provide nicotine patches and/or gum as needed.

## **Nature of the Doctoral Project**

The site for the doctoral project was an urban nonprofit organization in the Western United States. The evaluation and treatment center serves a condensed area of individuals who disproportionately share problems with mental health and substance use disorders compared to other surrounding communities in the region. Nurses interact with

patients throughout their involuntary stay and are in an ideal position to provide tobacco interventions. Evidence indicated that there is a lack of educational programs providing tobacco cessation content to nurses (VanDevanter et al., 2017). This knowledge gap contributes to nurses' inadequate experience in providing tobacco cessation interventions. A staff education project was developed to educate nurses on tobacco interventions to increase their knowledge, confidence, and skills to provide tobacco interventions to patients.

# **Significance**

This project was significant to stakeholders interested in improving the health outcomes of persons with mental illness. I expected that the project would promote interest in tobacco treatment and demonstrate positive outcomes, which could lead to reduced local tobacco problems. The nurses educated on tobacco treatment will be able to share their knowledge with patients and provide ongoing education and motivation to other staff members on the importance of tobacco treatment. The positive impact gained by the project is the recognition by the leadership of the importance of supporting nursing education and the support of the organization's vision to improve the health and well-being of all community members. The project advances the goals of Healthy People 2020 to reduce the use of tobacco (see Healthy People, 2011).

The contribution of the doctoral project to nursing practice is the introduction of a smoking cessation module for nurses working in the inpatient psychiatric setting, which has fostered new interest and commitment to address the problem of tobacco use in the organization. Increasing nursing knowledge, skills, and confidence to provide tobacco

treatment interventions may result in decreased tobacco use and may improve the quality of life of persons with a mental health disorder.

# **Summary**

In Section 1, I addressed the problem, purpose, nature, and significance of this doctoral project, which addressed the lack of knowledge, skills, and confidence of nurses to provide tobacco treatment interventions to their patients in an inpatient psychiatric setting. To address the practice gap at the project site, I implemented a staff education project and collected and analyzed data. Section 2 includes a detailed literature review of the issues involving tobacco interventions and nursing practice with an explanation of the project's theoretical frameworks, discussion of the project's relevance to nursing practice, and an overview of the roles of the DNP student.

# Section 2: Background and Context

This doctoral project addressed the lack of knowledge, skills, and confidence of nurses to provide tobacco treatment interventions. People with mental health conditions want to quit smoking, just as those without mental health conditions, and consume 40% of all cigarettes smoked by adults (CDC, 2018).

Studies have shown that fewer than 1 in 10 smokers have completely quit in the past year, and fewer than one-third of persons attempting to quit used evidence-based cessation counseling and/or medications (Babb et al., 2017). Nurses are the largest percentage of health professionals and consistently fail to provide smoking cessation interventions. Barriers cited in providing interventions include lack of training and skills, smoking among nursing professionals, and lack of administrative support (Carson et al., 2012; Obtel, et al., 2014; Sarna, Bialous, Kralikova, et al., 2014; Sheals, Tombor, McNeill, & Shahab, 2016; VanDevanter et al., 2017).

The lack of formal and continuing nursing education about tobacco dependence is cited as a barrier to action (Price, Jordan, Jeffrey, Stanley, & Price, 2008). The USPSTF (2017) guidelines indicated that clinicians should ask all adults about tobacco use, advise them to quit, provide behavior interventions, and offer U.S. Food and Drug Administration approved nicotine replacement therapy. The current project addressed the practice gap through the implementation of a staff education project based on the Walden University (2017) guidelines. I completed this project to increase the knowledge, skills, and confidence of nurses working in the inpatient psychiatric setting to empower them to offer tobacco treatment interventions.

# **Concepts, Models, and Theories**

Ryan and Deci's (2002) self-determination theory and Prochaska and DiClemente's (1983) transtheoretical model of change were used as the theoretical framework for this project.

# **Self-Determination Theory**

Self-determination theory (SDT; Ryan & Deci, 2002) was chosen as the theoretical framework for this project based on a desire to explore how to motivate nurses to acquire knowledge that may increase their confidence and competence to counsel their patients. SDT is a macro theory of human motivation and personality (Ryan & Deci, 2002). A macro theory seeks to encompass all aspects of some subject or phenomenon (Macro-Theory, 2018). There are three main intrinsic needs involved in self-determination: autonomy, competence, and relatedness. The intrinsic needs are conceptualized and identify the relationship between an individual's perceptions about his or her ability and intentions to engage or not to engage in a specific behavior or activity (Niemiec & Ryan, 2009; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Williams et al., 2006).

Achievement of autonomy, competence, and relatedness needs to be accomplished to motivate the person to function and grow optimally. These needs are universal, innate, and psychological (Ryan & Deci, 2002).

SDT expanded on previous works on intrinsic motivation and became popular in the 1980s. SDT has been applied in many domains including adoption and maintenance of new health-related behaviors such as dental hygiene, physical activity, and smoking cessation (Halvari, Halvari, Bjonebekk, & Deci, 2012; Murcia, Roman,

Galindo, Alonso, & Gonzalez-Cutre, 2008; Williams et al., 2006). Empirical evidence indicated that an optimal motivational profile for sustained behavior change is one of high autonomous motivation and high perceived competence (Alvernini, Lucidi, & Manganelli, 2008; Chua & Koestner, 2008). Attendance at an autonomy-supportive smoking cessation workshop predicted perceived competence and autonomous motivation in health care providers, which in turn predicted positive changes for the time the provider devoted to tobacco-dependence counseling (Williams, Levesque, Zeldman, Wright, & Deci, 2003). Optimal learning was characterized by engaging students in their learning and providing informational feedback in a nonjudgmental and nonpressuring fashion (Niemiec & Ryan, 2009).

Stakeholders in primary and secondary educational settings, work sites, and health care settings have tested SDT (Black & Deci, 2008; Ryan & Deci, 2000). Black and Deci (2008) examined the support for autonomy, perceived competence, and relatedness among college students.. Students who reported higher autonomous self-regulation for learning also reported higher perceived competence, greater interest in the course material, and lower anxiety related to the course.

Nurses may lack intrinsic motivation and therefore, do not engage in tobacco treatment. They may also lack the requisite confidence to assist clients in quitting smoking (Niemiec & Ryan, 2009). Studies showed that training improves the self-reported knowledge and confidence of undergraduate nursing students to assess, advise, and assist clients to quit using tobacco (Butler et al., 2009; Sohn, Ahn, Park, & Lee, 2012). Though knowledge and a sense of competence are necessary to facilitate a change

in behavior, they are not sufficient to sustain that change over time (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Williams, Gagné, Ryan, & Deci, 2002). In the current study, SDT provided the framework for an educational intervention targeting the underlying motivational processes of nurses to intervene with their patients who smoke. Providing tobaccodependence training for nurses in a supportive manner may boost their sense of competence and their autonomous motivation for delivering such interventions. Nurses may be more successful in internalizing the importance and value of the educational message and may be more likely to be engaged and retain knowledge over time. Nurses could then interact with patients in an autonomous, supportive way to guide patients toward improved health outcomes.

The major constructs of the stages of change model that individuals move through are autonomy, competence, relatedness (Ryan & Deci, 2017). Autonomy refers to the individuals' urge to be causal agents of their own life (Ryan & Deci, 2017). This may not mean that the individual is independent but that an individual's actions are initiated from within and are congruent with that individual's values, even if the actions originated with or were suggested by others (Ryan & Deci, 2017). Competence refers to seeking to control the outcome and experience mastery, which involves seeking and accepting the challenge and perceiving confidence and effectiveness in dealing with the environment (Ryan & Deci, 2017). Relatedness is the state of being connected to others (Ryan & Deci, 2017).

# **Transtheoretical Model of Change (TTM)**

Prochaska and DiClemente (1983) developed TTM in 1977 and were trailblazers in the study of intentional change. TTM is one of the most widely used behavior change models. The model asserts that individuals move through stages of change in a nonlinear fashion, often relapsing back to earlier stages (Prochaska & DiClemente, 1983). Because TTM was designed to account for changes or lack of changes in smoking behavior, it is effective at predicting readiness to change in smoking cessation (Prochaska & DiClemente, 1983; Prochaska, DiClemente, & Norcross, 1992; Prochaska & Velicer, 1997). Multiple quit attempts are the norm that is considered by TTM.

DiClemente and Prochaska (1982) compared 872 cigarette smokers who quit on their own with subjects from two therapy programs. A Change Process questionnaire was provided within seven weeks of cessation (DiClemente & Prochaska, 1982). DiClemente and Prochaska identified the stages of change individuals undergo to change unhealthy behaviors as well as the process of change. Similar studies showed that linear progression in behavior change is rare with addictive behaviors (Prochaska, DiClemente, & Norcross, 1992). Progression is more like a spiral demonstrating evolution of behavior changes in which many people will relapse and regress to an earlier stage (Prochaska, DiClemente, & Norcross, 1992). Most patients are not prepared to take action on their smoking; however, most smoking cessation programs are designed for smokers who are so prepared (Prochaska & Goldstein, 1991). Action-oriented therapy is effective for those in the preparation or action stages. It is not effective with clients who are precontemplative or contemplative.

Stages of change provide an understanding of when shifts in attitudes, intentions, and behavior occur. The amount of progress patients make after an intervention is related to what stage they are in before the intervention. Patients progressing in one stage can double their chances of not smoking six months later (Prochaska et al., 1992). Providing personalized information about the cons of smoking, asking affect-arousing questions, and encouraging patients to reevaluate themselves as smokers are interventions providers can use to help patients who are not prepared to quit smoking (Prochaska et al., 1992).

Fava, Velicer, and Prochaska (1995) conducted a study of 4,144 smokers to determine whether the relationship between the early stages of change (precontemplation, contemplation, and preparation) that a smoker passes through on the way to successful smoking cessation and the other key constructs (process of change, decisional balance, and situational temptation) could be validated in a representative sample of smokers. The precontemplators were least likely to use the processes of change, had fewer negative attitudes regarding their smoking behaviors, and were tempted to smoke in more situations (Fava et al., 1995). The precontemplators were also the most addicted to smoking (Fava et al., 1995). Cahill and Lancaster (2010) found that providing stage-based smoking cessation interventions for those trying to quit appears to be more effective than not intervening at all. Over the years, the TTM model has evolved based on published, peer-reviewed research.

Definitions of the major constructs of the stages of change model that individuals move through are precontemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, and maintenance (Bogart & Delahanty, 2004). In the precontemplation stage, the individual has no

intention to change behavior in the next 6 months (Bogart & Delahanty, 2004). In the contemplation stage, the individual plans to change behavior in the next 6 months but not within the next month (Bogart & Delahanty, 2004). In the preparation stage, the individual plans to change in the next month. In the action stage, the behavior has changed but the individual has been engaged in the behavior change less than 6 months (Bogart & Delahanty, 2004). In the maintenance stage, the individual is engaged in the new behavior for more than 6 months (Bogart & Delahanty, 2004).

The two social-cognitive constructs associated with the process of change are decisional balance and self-efficacy (Prochaska, DiClemente, Velicer, Ginpil, & Norcross, 1985; Prochaska, Velicer, DiClemente, & Fava, 1988; DiClemente et al., 1991; Prochaska et al., 1994). Decisional balance is defined as the balance between comparative gains and losses, or pros and cons, from taking a course of action. The construct was taken from Janis and Mann's (1977) decision-making model. Decisional balance tends to change as individuals move through the stages of change (Prochaska et al., 1994). Individuals at earlier stages (i.e., precontemplation or contemplation) perceive more disadvantages than advantages to changing smoking behavior, whereas individuals at later stages (i.e., action or maintenance) perceive more advantages than disadvantages. The crossover in decisional balance tends to occur in the contemplation or preparation stage. Bandura's (1986) concept of self-efficacy has also been incorporated in the stages of change model. Individuals with higher levels of self-efficacy tend to be in higher levels of change (Prochaska et al., 1985; DiClemente et al., 1991).

# **Relevance to Nursing Practice**

Locally, the widespread use of tobacco by nurses in the community is cause for alarm. It is paramount that all nurses have adequate education to address tobacco use with their patients. Nursing interventions to decrease tobacco use are effective (Rice et al., 2017). Nursing is the largest of the health care professions with registered nurses being the largest portion of all health care workers (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2015). Nurses interact with patients frequently and have high credibility with smokers (Brenan, 2018).

Although smoking by registered nurses has decreased to 24% since 2003, nurses continue to smoke more than any other health care professionals, which complicates this trusted relationship and poses a significant problem to tobacco treatment efforts (Sarna, Bialous, Nandy, Antonio, & Yang, 2014). The attitudes and motivation of nurses who smoke to provide tobacco treatment interventions are different from those of nonsmokers (Fiore et al., 2008; Obtel et al., 2014) and affect whether interventions are offered. However, personal tobacco use status should not be a deterrent to providing tobacco cessation support to patients. Regardless of smoking status, nurses can intervene with patients who use tobacco, but often they do not.

The National Alliance on Mental Illness (2016) has a public policy to support people with a mental health disorder having the right to be smoke free and their need for education and support to make healthy choices. This support extends to providing smoking treatment interventions to hospitalized patients (National Alliance on Mental Illness, 2016). The American Psychiatric Nurses Association (APNA), along with the American Nurses Association, has an extensive history of advocating for smoking

cessation. The APNA's (2008) Tobacco Dependence Branch position statement indicates "that failure to act on tobacco dependence equals harm" (para. 1). Further, the APNA recognizes that a need exists to motivate psychiatric nurses to increase their provider knowledge and skills, educate students and fellow practitioners, and implement change in employing institutions.

A 2008 survey of 1,288 APNA members revealed that only 30% of the respondents provide tobacco dependence treatment consistent with national best practice guidelines, and another 33% rated tobacco dependence as a low priority in their work (Tobacco Dependence Survey, 2008). Additionally, only a few (12.3%) rated their ability to help clients stop smoking very high (Tobacco Dependence Survey, 2008). The American Psychiatric Association (as cited in Silverman et al., 2015) recommends that the initial psychiatric evaluation of patients include assessment of the patient's tobacco use during the substance use assessment. There is moderate-quality evidence that advice and support from nurses increase people's success in quitting smoking, whether in hospitals or community settings (Rice et al., 2017). The current doctoral project was conducted to fill a gap in practice by expanding treatment interventions and providing access to successful treatment to all smokers, which is an identified strategy to end the tobacco epidemic (Healthy People, 2011).

There are strategies to decrease the gap in practice. The USPSTF (2017) recommended that clinicians ask all adults about tobacco use, advise them to stop using tobacco, provide behavioral interventions, and encourage the use of U.S. Food and Drug Administration approved pharmacotherapy for cessation to adults who use tobacco. The

Clinical Practice Guidelines for Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence (Fiore et al., 2008) provides information to clinicians regarding multiple effective treatment options to enhance smoking cessation interventions. The Tobacco Free Nurse (n.d.) Initiative is the first national initiative to establish a framework for engaging nurses in tobacco use and cessation and provides support for nurses who smoke. The Registered Nurses Association of Ontario (2017) provides practice guidelines based on the Clinical Practice Guidelines and USPSTF recommendations to promote decision-making for nurses working with clients who use tobacco. Additionally, The American Psychiatric Nurse's Association Tobacco Dependence Branch has assembled a task force to examine competencies nurses need to provide tobacco cessation interventions (APNA, 2018).

Studies across the world have addressed both practicing nurses' and nursing students' knowledge, attitudes, and practices related to tobacco control and have consistently recommended that more education is needed to ensure that nurses have the knowledge, skills, and confidence to provide evidence-based smoking cessation interventions (Carson et al., 2012; Obtel et al., 2014; Sarna, Bialous, Kralikova et al., 2014; Sheals et al., 2016; VanDevanter et al., 2017). Barriers to smoking cessation interventions by nurses include lack of training and skills, smoking among nursing professionals, lack of administrative support, and other factors such as the perception that patients do not want to quit smoking (Obtel et al., 2014; Sarna et al., 2014; VanDevanter et al., 2017).

The lack of formal and continuing nursing education about tobacco dependence is cited as a barrier to action (Price, Jordan, Jeffrey, Stanley, & Price, 2008). Additionally,

many nurses are not prepared to intervene with patients due to the lack of tobacco cessation content in most schools of nursing curricula in the United States. A study found that only 9% of baccalaureate programs and 16% of graduate programs taught the 5 A's (Ask –screen all patients for tobacco use; Advise – advise users to quit; Assess – willingness to quit; Assist – provide assistance with quitting; and Arrange – arrange follow up) intervention technique (Wewers, Kidd, Armbruster, & Sarna, 2004). Researchers cited inadequate nursing education as a factor hindering the delivery of quality smoking cessation interventions (VanDevanter et al., 2017). Efforts are needed to ensure that nurses incorporate evidence-based interventions into clinical practice to help smokers quit (Sarna et al., 2009).

# **Local Background and Context**

The site for the doctoral project was at a community, not for profit, inpatient, involuntary psychiatric unit in the western United States. The facility is non-smoking. The population served are adults >18 years old, diagnosed with any mental illness (AMI), involuntarily committed, low-income, state insured, predominantly white race, mostly high school educated, with a majority being homeless on admission. The nursing staff is composed of mostly white females, aged 30 to 60, who are registered nurses possessing a bachelor's degree, median income, and are a mixed composition of smokers and non-smokers. Locally, tobacco use remains a leading cause of preventable death and disease (Washington State Department of Health, 2015). Smokers are identified during the admission process and are offered nicotine patches and gum as needed. It was feasible to accomplish this project in this setting due to the organization's verbal commitment to

accommodate such a program and ease of access to the nurses within the facility. The organization's mission and strategic vision are "to educate our community to change the perception of poverty and deliver innovative services that equip individuals and families to thrive. We envision an equitable community with engaged individuals, working together to improve the health and well-being of all community members. We want a safe place to live, to raise a family, and to find meaning and purpose in our daily lives" (MDC, 2018).

The doctoral project evaluated the impact of a staff education program, aimed at nurses, to increase knowledge, skills, and confidence to offer tobacco treatment interventions. The education project was based on the Psychiatry RX for Change curriculum (University of California San Francisco, 2013) and based on the tobacco treatment clinical guidelines (Fiore et al., 2008). Both pre- and post-test results and pre- and posttest survey results were collected and analyzed after the intervention to determine any associated improvement in nursing knowledge, skills, and confidence to offer tobacco treatment interventions. A knowledge questionnaire and the Skills and Confidence for Smoking Cessation tool were utilized. Unpaired sample *t*-tests were conducted to determine statistical significance.

Tobacco use remains a leading cause of preventable death and disease in the local community. The state administers an annual Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) survey that measures changes in the health of the Washington State adult population. The BRFSS, supported by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), is the longest continuously running phone survey in the world (CDC, 2018). One

of the categories reported by the WA BRFSS 2014-2016 survey is individuals, age 18 and older, who reported having poor mental health less than 14 days and those who suffer from poor mental health greater than 14 days in the past month. The survey identified 13.4% of individuals who reported less than 14 days of poor mental health identified themselves as smokers, 56.7% attempted to quit in the past year, and 64.4% were advised to quit by a healthcare provider.

In comparison, individuals reporting more than 14 days of poor mental health composed 27.5% smokers, 58.5% attempted to quit in the past year, and 72.8% were advised to quit by a healthcare provider (Washington State Department of Health, 2017). The results indicate that individuals with a greater number of mental health days were more likely to be smokers, had more quit attempts in the past year, and were advised to quit by a healthcare provider more often. These results could be interpreted to signal that those with more chronic mental health problems require more intensive interventions other than being advised to quit. The state Medicaid program currently pays more than \$780 million per year in smoking-related healthcare costs to include coverage of nicotine replacement therapy as a pharmacy benefit (Washington State Department of Health, 2015). The evidence justifies the need for nursing to participate in educational opportunities to provide tobacco treatment interventions to patients who smoke.

Definitions of locally used terms relevant to understanding the doctoral project include:

Any mental health disorder/mental health disorder: Defined as the presence of any mental, behavioral, or emotional disorder based on diagnostic criteria in the fifth edition of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (2013).

*Educational module*: Includes information about the topic, focus on student-centered learning activities, and culminate in a project for students to demonstrate understanding (Sweet, n.d.).

Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT): Nicotine gum or nicotine transdermal patch are effective therapy forms for maintaining smoking abstinence (Shiffman, Dresler, & Rohay, 2013, p.84).

Tobacco cessation training: Six-hour program offered to nurses using the Rx for Change modules, a shared curriculum developed in 1999 by the University of California San Francisco (2013).

#### **Federal Guidelines**

The US Public Health Service Clinical Guidelines (Fiore et al., 2008) recommend clinical intervention and system changes to promote the treatment of tobacco dependence. The current update was reviewed by an independent panel of 24 scientists and clinicians selected by the US Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality who reviewed over 8,700 English language peer-reviewed research articles and abstracts in 11 different databases and collaboration among eight governmental and nonprofit organizations. The evidence justifies that addressing smoking cessation in the mentally ill population is important to the nursing profession and would benefit from further investigation (Fiore et al., 2008).

In 2017, the United States Preventative Task Force (USPSTF) published updated guidelines recommending that clinicians ask all adults about tobacco use, advise them to stop using tobacco, and provide interventions. This recommendation is given an "A" rating that recommends the service with high certainty that the net benefit is substantial, and this service should be offered to patients. A systematic review of best practice evidence and models of benefits experienced over longer periods concluded that current recommendations are consistent with the 2009 recommendations. The task force reviewed 11 good-or fair-quality systematic reviews on behavioral interventions, including complementary or alternative therapies and smoking-cessation outcomes. Evidence on increasing smoking abstinence was strongest for physician and nurse advice, tailored self-help materials, and telephone counseling (USPSTF, 2017). The U.S. Public Health Service practice guidelines reflect the most current practice considerations in the treatment of tobacco use and dependence. The evidence-based findings from this comprehensive review resulted in the following key findings (Fiore et al., 2008).

- Dependence on tobacco is a chronic disease that requires repeated interventions and multiple quit attempts.
- Tobacco users should be identified, use status documented, and treatment offered to every tobacco user seen.
- Tobacco dependence treatment is effective across a broad range of patients.
- Brief tobacco dependence treatment is effective.
- Individual, group, and telephone counseling are effective.
- Clinicians should offer nicotine replacement therapy.

- A combination of counseling and medications are more effective together than alone.
- Telephone quit lines are effective.
- If a tobacco user is unwilling to make a quit attempt, motivational treatments are helpful in increasing future quit attempts.

The organization and local health department support the state's requirements that no person may smoke in a public place or any place of employment (Washington State Legislature, 2005).

## **Definition of Terms**

Definitions of locally used terms relevant to understanding the doctoral project include:

Any mental health disorder/mental health disorder: Defined as the presence of any mental, behavioral, or emotional disorder based on diagnostic criteria in the fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (2013).

*Educational module*: Includes information about the topic, focus on student-centered learning activities and culminate in a project for students to demonstrate understanding (Sweet, n.d.).

Knowledge questionnaire: A 20-question survey I developed based upon the Psychiatry RX for Change curriculum (University of California San Francisco, 2013)

Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT): Nicotine gum or nicotine transdermal patch are effective therapy forms for maintaining smoking abstinence (Shiffman, Dresler, & Rohay, 2013, p.84).

Skills and Confidence for Smoking Cessation Tool: A valid 15-question tool that includes six questions addressing skills and nine questions addressing confidence. The tool has a reliability coefficient of 0.81 (Matten et al., 2011).

Tobacco cessation training: Six-hour program offered to nurses using the Rx for Change modules, a shared curriculum developed in 1999 by the University of California San Francisco (2013).

#### **Role of the DNP Student**

The role of the DNP student was as a planner/facilitator for developing and implementing the doctoral staff education project. I provided the leadership to assist in improving health care (Ward-Smith et al., 2014). As a psychiatric nurse practitioner working on the inpatient psychiatric unit, I can identify smokers after reviewing either their pre-admit hospital records or during the admission intake assessment. It is difficult to obtain an initial smoking history as most of the patients are experiencing acute psychosis on admission and are experiencing high anxiety because of the no smoking policy. All tobacco users are provided nicotine patches and/or gum as requested. After stabilization, a window of opportunity exists to engage in motivational counseling with our clients. The project was undertaken to educate nurses on evidence-based tobacco cessation interventions to increase tobacco treatment offered and to decrease tobacco use amongst the population.

## **Role of the Project Team**

A multidisciplinary team consisting of the medical director, nurse practitioner, registered nurse, mental health professional, mental health technicians, and administrative

personnel were identified in the planning of the education module. The goal was to increase participation and build a team designed to be successful. Senior executive leadership, the medical director, and the program director gave verbal approval and support for the educational module.

The project team was presented with information regularly. Before the final project results being disseminated, the project findings will be disseminated to the project team during a weekly meeting to obtain feedback. The final doctoral project results will be disseminated via a meeting. Team members were encouraged to provide feedback within two weeks to incorporate suggestions into the next educational module.

# **Summary**

Section 2 involved a discussion addressing the lack of evidence-based training available to the nurses and its impact on their abilities to have the knowledge, skills, and confidence to offer treatment and the need to address tobacco use in the acute inpatient psychiatric setting. It includes an explanation of the background and context about the supporting literature, theoretical frameworks being used, the project's relevance to nursing practice, and the role of the DNP student. Section 3 explains the collection and analysis of evidence.

# Section 3: Collection and Analysis of Evidence

In 2015, 68% of adult smokers reported they wanted to quit smoking (Babb et al., 2017. Fewer than 1 in 10 smokers quit successfully, and less than one-third of persons attempting to quit used evidence-based counseling and or medications (Babb et al., 2017). The purpose of this evidence-based educational project was to educate nurses on tobacco use, interventions, and interviewing techniques to increase their knowledge, skills, and confidence in providing tobacco cessation education to clients in the inpatient psychiatric setting.

People with a mental health disorder want to quit smoking, just as those without mental health disorder, and consume 40% of all cigarettes smoked by adults (CDC, 2018). Studies have shown that nurses fail to consistently provide smoking cessation interventions, and researchers have recommended smoking cessation education for nurses to ensure they have the knowledge, skills, and confidence to provide evidence-based smoking interventions (Sarna et al., 2009; Sarna et al., 2014). The lack of formal and continuing nursing education about tobacco dependence is a barrier to action (Price et al., 2008). In this section, I present the practice-focused question and discuss the sources of evidence. I also describe analysis and synthesis of the data.

# **Practice-Focused Question**

The doctoral project addressed the lack of knowledge, skills, and confidence of nurses to provide tobacco treatment interventions in the acute inpatient psychiatric setting. The evaluation and treatment center used in the study provides mental health care to involuntarily committed individuals, and most of the patients admitted to the smoke-

free facility are smokers in need of tobacco treatment. The hospital smoking ban provides an opportunity to address unmet tobacco treatment needs in this population. Nurses at the evaluation and treatment center who smoke are reluctant to discuss tobacco treatment with patients. It is imperative that nurses receive tobacco treatment education to increase their knowledge to provide tobacco cessation interventions. Tobacco treatment education for nurses needs to address motivational factors that will encourage all nurses to engage in interventions to reduce smoking in the population of patients who suffer from a mental health disorder and nicotine addiction. The gap in practice that needs to be addressed is the lack of educational programs providing tobacco cessation content to nurses (Wewers et al., 2004). This knowledge gap contributes to nurses' inadequate experience to provide tobacco cessation interventions. Existing barriers to nurses providing interventions include smoking in the profession, lack of professional leadership, and lack of education and skills (Sarna et al., 2009). Nursing-delivered smoking cessation interventions are effective in assisting clients in quitting (Carson et al., 2013; Fiore et al., 2008; Rice et al., 2017; Sheffer et al., 2011;). There is a demand for improvements in formal education for nurses while in school. Nurses in the workforce must be afforded the opportunity to increase their knowledge, skills, and confidence to provide interventions to fill this knowledge gap.

The aim of the project was to address the practice gap through the implementation of a staff education program guided by the Walden University (2017) *Manual for Staff Education Project*. Based on Walden's guidelines, consent for anonymous questionnaires was provided to each participant. The study site organization's CEO provided the site

approval documentation for staff education doctoral project. The education program was based on the RX for Change using the Psychiatry curriculum (University of California San Francisco, 2013). The curriculum is based on the clinical practice guidelines published by the U.S. Public Health Service (as cited in Fiore et al., 2008).

The practice-focused question was the following: In the inpatient psychiatric setting, would a staff education program for psychiatric nurses increase nurses' confidence, skills, and knowledge to provide patient education to patients with a mental illness using the Psychiatry RX for Change curriculum? I completed the project to increase the knowledge, skills, and confidence of nurses working in the inpatient psychiatric setting to offer tobacco treatment interventions. The outcomes for this education intervention were (a) nurses demonstrated a statistically significant increase in knowledge on tobacco interventions, (b) nurses demonstrated a statistically significant increase in counseling skills and confidence to provide tobacco interventions, and (c) nurses demonstrated motivation to participate in educational training.

The purpose of the project was to implement a tobacco cessation educational module in the acute psychiatric inpatient setting. The evidence supports the problem of smoking in the mentally ill population and the lack of education of nurses to provide smoking cessation interventions. The local practice problem and practice-focused question were aligned to address gaps in current practice in tobacco treatment. This doctoral project has the potential to address the gap in practice by providing education to nurses to increase motivation and confidence to provide tobacco treatment interventions.

Operational definitions of key aspects of the project were as follows:

Adult with a serious mental health disorder: Persons age 18 and older who at any time during the past year had a diagnosable mental, behavior, or emotional disorder that caused serious functional impairment that substantially interfered with or limited one or more major life activities (SAMHSA, 2017).

*Educational module*: A program of instruction that includes information about the topic, focuses on student-centered learning activities and culminates in a project for students to demonstrate understanding (Sweet, n.d.).

Self-determination theory: A theory of human motivation concerned with the motivation behind choices people make without external influence and interference. The focus is on the degree to which an individual's behavior is self-motivated and self-determined (Ryan & Deci, 2000, 2017).

Smoking cessation training: A 3-hour program offered to nurses using the Rx for Change modules, which is a shared curriculum developed in 1999 by the University of California San Francisco (University of California San Francisco, 2013).

Transtheoretical model of change: A model that explores individual behavior change. For change to occur, an individual goes through five stages: precontemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, and maintenance. These stages are found to be nonlinear and may overlap. Smokers who relapse often revert to earlier stages of change (Hodges & Videto, 2011; Prochaska & DiClemente, 1983; White & Dudley-Brown, 2012).

## **Sources of Evidence**

I evaluated the impact of a staff education intervention on the nurses' knowledge and perceived skills and confidence related to a tobacco cessation intervention using a pretest-posttest design. The education content was developed in alignment with the Public Health Services clinical practice guidelines *Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence: 2008 Update* and was accessible via handout or online PowerPoint presentation. The guidelines support the use of brief interventions, counseling, and FDA-approved nicotine replacement to decrease tobacco use in adults (USPSTF, 2017). The project also addressed the gap in practice between knowledge and tobacco interventions available to be offered by nurses and addressed the need to increase nurses' motivation to engage in an educational activity.

The one group pretest-posttest knowledge-based questionnaire measured smoking cessation knowledge. The content focused on people with a mental health disorder and encompassed epidemiology, psychiatric medication interactions, and counseling strategies. The Skills and Confidence for Smoking Tool (Matten et el., 2011) was used to measure perceived skills and self-confidence to provide tobacco treatment interventions. Nurses completed both the knowledge-based questionnaire and the Skills and Confidence for Smoking Tool before and after completion of the education intervention.

# **Participants**

Participants for the project included nine nurses working on the inpatient psychiatric unit. To increase the depth of information obtained, both licensed practical nurses and registered nurses were recruited to address the practice-focused question. The

target sample of nurses was chosen due to the ease of access and their ongoing work with patients having a mental health disorder who also use tobacco.

#### **Procedures**

The Psychiatry Rx for Change Program (University of California San Francisco, 2013) was used to implement the education modules. The program developed by the University of California San Francisco is used to teach professional students and practicing clinicians evidence-based knowledge and skills for assisting patients with quitting. The program is based on the U.S. Public Health Service Guidelines for Treatment of Tobacco Use and Dependence and has been reviewed by content experts in the field of psychiatry. The Rx for Change program has been used as the basis for training over 100,000 health care professionals in the past decade. There are six modules in the 4-hour psychiatry education program: (a) epidemiology and impact of tobacco use and mental health disorders, (b) psychiatric medication interactions with smoking, (c) factors associated with the high-rates of smoking in psychiatric populations, (d) assisting clients with quitting, (e) pharmacotherapy for cessation, and (f) treatment of special populations (University of California San Francisco, 2013).

The knowledge-based smoking cessation questionnaire and the Skills and Confidence for Smoking Cessation Tool were used for pretest-post-test data collection. Six questions addressed skills, and nine questions addressed confidence in providing tobacco cessation information. Permission to use the Skills and Confidence for Smoking Cessation Tool was obtained from the Oncology Nursing Society (Matten, 2011, see

Appendix C). The knowledge-based questionnaire was based on the educational content and was reviewed for validity by the organization's medical director.

### **Protections**

As outlined by Walden University's (2017) *Manual for Staff Education Project* for doctoral scholarly projects, an ethics preapproval exists for staff education projects. I obtained approval from the clinical site before project development and implementation. I also obtained approval from the institutional review board (IRB # 02-12-19-0672100) based on the steps outlined in the Walden manual. All participants were allowed to decide to participate in the education session without coercion and were provided with Walden's Consent Form for Anonymous Questionnaires (Terry, 2015).

## **Analysis and Synthesis**

Pre-test and post-test paper-based and online questionnaires related to the learning objectives of each module were completed anonymously before and at the end of the staff education intervention. Collected data were analyzed using unpaired sample *t* tests.

Statistical significance was confirmed using GraphPad (2019) software. Separate unpaired *t* tests were conducted on the knowledge test on tobacco cessation, the six questions addressing skills, and the nine questions addressing confidence.

Missing information and outliers were removed to avoid skewing the results. An attempt was made to obtain missing information. It was determined that the impact of including missing information would compromise the statistical power of the study and the reliability of the results (see Grove, Burns, & Gray, 2013). A decision was made to

use available data after removing all missing values. Outliers were removed by excluding them before analysis.

### **Summary**

Section 3 outlined the steps taken to address the lack of tobacco cessation interventions by nurses in the acute inpatient psychiatric setting of a nonprofit evaluation and treatment center in the Western United States. A staff education intervention was used based on the outline of Walden University's Manual for Staff Education Project and the U.S. Public Health Services' (2008) clinical practice guidelines for tobacco cessation for adults. IRB approval for the doctoral project was obtained from both Walden University and the organization. The intervention comprised handouts and online presentations. As identified in Washington State's nursing commission standards for continuing education, a 4-hour continuing education credit was approved for the training. Nurses received the Consent Form for Anonymous Questionnaire prior to beginning the pretest tests and surveys. Pencil-based pretest and posttest results were entered into the same online database used by participants electing to use the online version of the tests/surveys. Unpaired t-test analyses were conducted using GraphPad (2019) software to determine statistical significance. In Section 4 I discussed the findings and recommendations from the doctoral project.

## Section 4: Findings and Recommendations

In 2015, 68% of adult smokers reported they wanted to quit smoking, fewer than 1 in 10 smokers completely quit, and fewer than one-third of persons attempting to quit used evidence-based counseling and or medications (Babb et al., 2017). It is imperative that nurses engage with patients about tobacco treatment. The project addressed this gap in practice in tobacco treatment offered to those who also have a mental illness by educating nurses on tobacco use, interventions, and interviewing techniques to increase their knowledge, skills, and confidence in providing tobacco treatment education to clients in the inpatient psychiatric setting. The practice-focused question addressed was the following: In the inpatient psychiatric setting, would a staff education program for nurses increase nurses' confidence, skills, and knowledge to provide patient education to patients with a mental illness using the Psychiatry RX for Change curriculum? The current standard of practice on the unit is to identify tobacco users and offer nicotine patches or gum as needed.

I developed a staff education project to improve the knowledge and skills of nurses in providing tobacco treatment interventions with a goal to increase their motivation and confidence to offer smoking interventions to their patients. The evidence-based project supported the identified practice need to provide tobacco education to nurses to decrease tobacco use in the mentally ill population. Nine nurses working on an acute inpatient psychiatric unit were given unpaired pretests and posttests, which consisted of a 20-question smoking knowledge questionnaire and a 15-question Skills and Confidence for Smoking Tool. The 15 questions on the skills and confidence for

smoking cessation tool included six questions addressing skills and nine questions related to confidence. Data were compiled using Survey Monkey. Unpaired t tests were conducted on pre- and posttest raw scores, means, and standard deviations to determine statistical significance.

Participants were provided with the Consent Form for Anonymous Questionnaires from Walden University prior to completing the pretest surveys. The consent outlined questionnaire procedures, voluntary nature of the project, risks and benefits of being in the project, privacy, and contact information to privately discuss their rights about the project. The participants were given the option of completing the tests/surveys online or completing a paper version. The education intervention consisted of a self-paced review of handouts or PowerPoint presentations consisting of 4 hours of materials. Participants were requested to complete the posttest and formative questionnaire after the presentation and a summative questionnaire at the end of the program. Participants were offered a certificate for 4 hours of continuing education credit.

## **Findings and Implications**

## **Findings**

The knowledge test consisted of 20 multiple-choice questions with 20 being the highest score. GraphPad software was used to compute unpaired sample t tests in which the pretest and posttest raw scores, mean scores, and standard deviation were computed (see Table 1). The level of significance (p) was set at 0.05. The mean pretest scores were 10.3 (SD = 2.00). The mean for the posttest score was 14.7 (SD = 2.2). A statistically significant increase (p < 0.05) was demonstrated.

Table 1
Unpaired Statistics for Pretest and Posttest Scores for Knowledge

Test	M	SD	SEM	
Pre-test	10.3	2.200	0.667	
Post-test	14.7	2.20	0.733	

Pretest and posttest survey scores for both the smoking cessation confidence and skills tools were analyzed using unpaired t tests with the level of significance (p) set at 0.05. The confidence tool's nine questions rated confidence in providing smoking cessation. The five Likert-scale responses on the confidence tool were given numerical codes as follows: 0 = not confident, 1 = not very confident, 2 = moderately confident, 3 = very confident, and 4 = extremely confident. The skills counseling tool's six questions rated perceived counseling skills. The five Likert-scale responses on the skills section were given numerical codes as follows: 0 = none, 1 = poor, 2 = good, 3 = very good, and 4 = excellent. The highest obtainable score on the confidence section was 36. The highest obtainable score on the skills section was 24. Internal consistency for the nine questions measuring skills was good with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.81. The nine questions measuring confidence showed a Cronbach's alpha of 0.93 (see Matten et al., 2011).

As shown in Table 2, the mean on the presurvey scores for the nine confidence questions was 16 (SD = 1.9), and the mean on the postscores was 23 (SD = 1.6). The mean obtained on presurvey scores for the six skills questions was 11.0 (SD = 2.20), and the mean obtained on the post-survey was 18.0 (SD = 1.50). A statistically significant increase (p < 0.05) was demonstrated in both nurses' perceptions of their skills and

confidence for providing tobacco cessation interventions after completion of the education intervention.

Table 2
Unpaired Sample Statistics for Pretest and Posttest Scores for Counseling Skills and Confidence

Test	M	SD	SEM
Skills pre-survey	11.0	2.20	0.733
Skills post-survey	18.0	1.5	0.500
Confidence pre-	16.0	1.9	0.633
survey			
Confidence post-	23.0	1.6	0.533
survey			

## **Unanticipated Implications or Findings**

There were multiple staff changes during the project that led to confusion on roles. A project team member was identified to ensure assigned random numbers were placed on the pre- and posttest surveys prior to being placed in the collection box.

However, this was not accomplished, which precluded using paired *t* tests to make a comparison between the same subject. Also, after the nurses elected to complete the modules on their own, online tests/surveys were also made available to provide an additional option to the nurses to complete the pretest/posttest surveys. The nurses used multiple computers, which precluded specific paired identification of the nurses between pre- and posttest surveys.

## **Implications**

By educating nurses working in the inpatient psychiatric setting on tobacco treatment interventions, nurses can influence the health outcomes of their patients. Nurses educated on tobacco treatment interventions can help motivate patients to remain smokefree after discharge. Nurses may also take advantage of opportunities to fight the tobacco
epidemic in the inpatient psychiatric setting by extending their knowledge to other staff
members. Efforts should be made to partner with leadership to incorporate tobacco
treatment education into annual training for all employees, which aligns with the
organization's mission to promote healthier communities. The tobacco treatment
education program would benefit other local evaluation and treatment centers as well.

### **Social Change**

A goal of this project was to provide tobacco treatment education to nurses to improve the quality of interactions between nurses and patients regarding tobacco treatment and improve the quality of life and health outcomes for the population. By reducing nicotine use and dependence in this population, communities will benefit from the ongoing dialogue and commitment by nurses to end the tobacco epidemic. Informed nurses can share their vision with colleagues, organizations, and schools of nursing to provide training for students and continuing education for licensed nurses.

## Recommendations

To address the gap in practice as informed by the findings, I recommend that a formal tobacco education program be adopted and a policy implemented to require tobacco treatment education to all nurses in the organization. This education should be provided to all new hires and be an annual requirement for nurses. The RX for Change curriculum (University of California San Francisco, 2013) has multiple learning content modules that would benefit patients, mental health technicians, and mental health

professionals. The goals, objectives, training material, and supplemental handouts are provided as a part of each RX for Change curriculum. The implementation and evaluation of these modules would require that each user register on the online site, and the organization and/or individuals must agree not to charge participants for the training. RX for Change has a train-the-trainer program that would be helpful to individuals desiring to facilitate tobacco education training.

## **Contribution of the Doctoral Project Team**

The key project team positions that were consistent were the medical director, registered nurse, and mental health technician. The medical director was instrumental in ensuring the integrity of the completed tests and that questionnaires remained anonymous and confidential. The registered nurse was instrumental in reminding the nurses about deadlines, and the mental health technician manually inputted test scores from questionnaires completed by hand, which the registered nurse double-checked. My role was to oversee the project, keep leadership informed, provide supplemental education materials, and act as a point of contact for questions or concerns the nurses had while completing the modules. The plan is to discuss the implementation of the education modules at other evaluation and treatment centers in the county.

### **Strengths and Limitations of the Project**

## **Strengths**

This project provided an opportunity to explore ways to motivate nurses to increase their knowledge. The learning environment supported nursing autonomy by allowing the nurses to choose the desired method to complete the modules. The nurses

unanimously opted to complete the modules in an individualized, self-paced environment. The online material and printed handouts were available 24 hours a day during the implementation period.

Although the sample size was small (9), it was representative of the nursing population (14). Interest in the learning modules was such that it was felt that the nurses sought to master the material. The project provided tobacco treatment knowledge, and the nurses acknowledged increased skills and confidence to assist patients with smoking interventions. The significant difference in pretest and posttest scores measuring knowledge, skills, and confidence supported these assertions.

### Limitations

The same questionnaire was used as both a pretest and posttest, and there was limited control over the instrument availability, which may have decreased the generalizability of the findings. This circumstance may have threatened the validity of the project because the change in posttest scores might have been due to either the nurses using their corrected pretests answers for the posttest, group completion of the tests, or memorization of the questions. These factors, coupled with the education intervention, may have caused the scores to increase. The poor formative and summative evaluation responses led to no assessment of whether the nurses felt the course objectives had been met.

Reminders in the form of verbal/visual cues, texts, and e-mails were provided, which may have improved the response rate; however, this may have negated the possibility of intrinsic motivation. More emphasis was placed on the pretest/posttest

completion of the training, which may have accounted for the poor return of formative and summative evaluations. The nature of the project did not allow for patient participation. This hindered important feedback on the program from the patients.

Although the nurses were paid for the training, no special accommodations were made to allow the nurses time to complete the modules during scheduled shifts, such as providing relief staff.

#### **Recommendations for Future Research**

There are several recommendations for future research. Research on the knowledge, skills, and confidence for helping clients with tobacco cessation should be offered to all nurses. Nursing competencies should be developed to identify basic knowledge that nurses should possess regarding tobacco treatment. Nursing curricula should include more hours to train nurses on tobacco interventions with emphasis on application of the skills needed to perform a tobacco history, discuss nicotine replacement therapy, provide motivational interviewing, and refer clients to providers for prescriptive needs and to community resources for tobacco users.

Providing nurses with a learning environment that allows for autonomy is complex. Organizations must provide adequate opportunities for nurses working varying shifts to engage in continuing education. Utilizing a classroom/workshop environment was assessed. I recommend further studies with larger samples and a stronger design to determine the impact of the educational treatment on the nurses' knowledge, skills, and confidence. More emphasis must be placed on obtaining the course evaluations to better

understand the nurses' perception of the course offerings and how this will affect future practice. Budgeting and resources should be made available to support the training.

### Summary

In Section 4 I discussed the findings and implications, recommendations, contributions of the project team, and strengths and limitations of the project. Findings showed that the mean pretest and posttest scores for both the knowledge test and the confidence and skills survey were statistically increased after the tobacco treatment education intervention to nurses, which aligns with the literature. Providing tobacco treatment education to nurses provided an opportunity to support nurses in acquiring new knowledge to influence the health outcomes of their patients. I recommend that a formal tobacco education program be adopted and a policy implemented to require tobacco treatment education for all nurses in the organization. The project team was invaluable to the success of the project. An identified strength of the project was the support provided to the nurses to encourage autonomy. Limitations of the project included the need for stronger project design. In Section 5 I discuss the dissemination plan and provide an analysis of self.

#### Section 5: Dissemination Plan

The project findings will be disseminated to the organization. The findings will be presented to the staff via e-mail and at a staff meeting. A one-on-one meeting will be held with the CEO to discuss the results with a plan to distribute the results at the next monthly organization meeting. I will also seek permission to have the results printed in the organization's newsletter. A poster presentation was made at the annual Washington Chapter of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association's conference on April 27, 2019.

I plan to elicit publication in the *Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses*Association after my approval for publication. The target audience of the publication (psychiatric nurses) would be aligned with the education program offered to the staff nurses. The journal regularly solicits original articles that inform psychiatric nurses about clinical issues and has a large audience that would benefit from this education. A long-term summative evaluation will be done 3 months after the initial presentation to determine the impact on practice beyond the project requirements.

## **Analysis of Self**

#### **Practitioner**

I have experienced sustained professional growth as a practitioner because of the project. The problems of tobacco use and its effects have been foremost when educating my patients. Exploring the literature provided evidence of the barriers to treatment for my patients. It became evident that nurses are not providing tobacco interventions as a result of a lack of educational opportunities to learn more about tobacco use. In previous clinical work, evidence-based practice was viewed as being difficult to implement in the

workplace. The doctoral program has clarified my previous misconceptions and has allowed me to develop new practice patterns in a logical and systematic manner. The growth experienced during this program has allowed me to step out of my comfort zone, to learn and understand how to successfully integrate evidence into practice, and to motivate nurses to make positive changes for better patient outcomes.

### Scholar

The project provided an opportunity to develop skills, to apply relevant findings to develop practice guidelines, and to improve practice at the practice site (AACN, 2006). As a scholar, I have developed the skills to identify a problem, research the literature, synthesize the findings, and apply those findings to an evidence-based project. As a scholar. I presented a poster at the state chapter's annual conference of the Association of Psychiatric Nurses Association in April. I also plan to do the following:

- learn how to make a YouTube presentation and a video of my project
   presenting both the proposal and the finished scholarly project,
- increase availability with a local university as clinical faculty for undergraduate and graduate students in the psychiatric mental health program,
- continue to work with the Tobacco Addiction Council to generate competencies for nurses on tobacco education, and
- continue membership in the community's advocacy council for mental health issues.

## **Project Developer**

The experience of developing and implementing the evidence-based project has enhanced my leadership abilities. Leadership was essential to guide the project to completion. Collaborative working relationships with all stakeholders were essential to ensuring that all points of view were considered to meet the goals and objectives of the program. Future project development will involve the same steps taken to undergo the project. As a result of this project, the CEO has asked if I would lead a new initiative to implement a no-smoking campus. An opportunity also exists within the county to bid for a grant to promote tobacco cessation in youth. The analytical skills developed during my project are invaluable and will be used in future projects as well.

## **Summary**

The tobacco education intervention demonstrated that tobacco education significantly increased the knowledge, skills, and confidence of nurses working in the acute setting to provide tobacco interventions to patients suffering from a mental illness. Nurses who perceive themselves as confident and competent in tobacco treatment knowledge can be catalysts to educate and motivate patients to quit smoking. The benefits of undertaking this project are already realized within by the organization wanting to identify itself as a nonsmoking campus. Mandatory inpatient smoking bans force patients to quit tobacco use and should be used as an opportunity for nurses to implement tobacco treatment interventions. Nurses benefit from continuing education that addresses the risks of tobacco use, FDA approved nicotine replacement therapies, and motivational skills to engage patients in a dialogue about tobacco use and how to

engage in healthier lifestyles. Without nursing involvement, the goal of Healthy People 2020 to reduce tobacco use will not be achieved.

#### References

- Alvernini, F., Lucidi, F., & Manganelli, S. (2008). Assessment of academic motivation:

  A mixed methods study. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches*,

  2(1), 71-82. Retrieved from

  https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Fabio\_Alivernini/publication/263504927\_Th

  e\_Assessment\_of\_Academic\_Motivation\_a\_Mixed\_Methods\_Study/links/58871d

  4392851c21ff4dc921/The-Assessment-of-Academic-Motivation-a-Mixed-Methods-Study.pdf
- American Association of Colleges of Nursing (AACN). (2006). The essentials of doctoral education for advanced nursing practice. Retrieved from http://www.aacn.nche.edu/publications/position/DNPEssentials.pdf
- American Psychiatric Nurses Association. (2008). APNA smoking cessation position statement. Retrieved from https://www.apna.org/i4a/pages/index.cfm?pageid=3751
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-V)* (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association.
- American Psychiatric Nurses Association. (2018). APNA tobacco treatment nursing competencies task force.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.

  Englewood Cliff, NJ: Cambridge Prentice Hall.

- Babb, S., Malarcher, A., Schauer, G., Asman, K., & Jamal A., (2017). Quitting Smoking Among Adults United States, 2000–2015. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 65(52), 1457-64.
  - doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6552a1external icon
- Black, A., & Deci, E. (2008). The effects of instructors' autonomy support and students' autonomous motivation on learning organic chemistry: A self-determination theory perspective. *Science Education*, 84, 740-756. doi: 10.1002/1098-237X(200011)84:6<740::AID-SCE4>3.0.CO;2-3
- Bogart, L. M., & Delahanty, D. L. (2004). Psychosocial models. In T. J. Boll, R. G. Frank, A. Baum, & J. L. Wallander (Eds.), *Handbook of clinical health psychology* (pp. 201-248). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Brenan, M. (2018). *Gallup Poll, December 2018: Honesty and ethical standards of*people in different fields. Gallup. Retrieved from

  http://www.gallup.com/poll/200057/americans-rate-healthcare-providers-high-honesty-ethics.aspx
- Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor. (2015). The economics daily:

  Registered nurses have highest employment in healthcare occupations;

  anesthesiologists earn the most. Retrieved from

  https://www.bls.gov/opub/ted/2015/registered-nurses-have-highest-employment-in-healthcare-occupations-anesthesiologists-earn-the-most.htm

- Butler, K. M., Rayens, M. K., Zhang, M., Maggio, L. G., Riker, C., & Hahn, E. J. (2009).

  Tobacco dependence treatment education for baccalaureate nursing students. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 48(5), 249-254. doi: 10.9999/01484834-20090416-03
- Cahill, K., & Lancaster, T. (2010). Stage-based interventions for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 11*. Retrieved from https://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.documents/39176773/53fc619f0cf2dca8 ffff1749.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIWOWYYGZ2Y53UL3A&Expires=1559 099639&Signature=4XX6ZXD2vTWM%2FfYgst5jtBKFlKg%3D&response-content-disposition=inline%3B%20filename%3DStage-based\_interventions\_for\_smoking\_ce.pdf
- Carson, K. V., Verbiest, M., Crone, M., Brinn, M., Essterman, A., Assendelft, W., ... Smith, B. (2012). Training health professionals in smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 12. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD000214.pub2
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2013). CDC Vital signs Adult smoking:

  Focusing on people with mental health disorder. Retrieved from

  https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/pdf/2013-02-vitalsigns.pdf
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). Behavioral risk factor surveillance system (BRFSS). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/index.html
- Chua, S. N., & Koestner, R. (2008). A self-determination theory perspective on the role of autonomy in solitary behavior. *Journal of Social Psychology*, *148*(5), 645-647. doi: 10.3200/SOCP.148.5.645-648

- Cook, B. L., Wayne, G. F., Kafali, E. N., Liu, Z., Shu, C., & Flores, M. (2014). Trends in smoking among adults with mental health disorders and association between mental health treatment and smoking cessation. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 311(2), 172-182. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.284985
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2002). *Handbook of self-determination research*. Rochester, NY: University of Rochester Press.
- DiClemente, C. C., & Prochaska, J. O. (1982). Self-change and therapy change of smoking behavior: A comparison of processes of change of cessation and maintenance. *Addictive Behaviors*, 7, 133-142. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/0306460382900387
- DiClemente, C. C., Prochaska, J. O., Fairhurst, S., Velicer, W. F., Velasquez, M., & Rossi, J. S. (1991). The process of smoking cessation: An analysis of precontemplation, contemplation and preparation stages of change. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *59*, 259-304. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1747990
- Dunfey, S. (2017). What is social change and why should we care? Southern New Hampshire University. Retrieved from https://www.snhu.edu/about-us/news-and-events/2017/11/what-is-social-change
- Fava, J. L., Velicer, W. F., & Prochaska, J. O. (1995). Applying the transtheoretical model to a representative sample of smokers. *Addictive Behaviors*, 20, 189-203. doi: 10.1016/0306-4603(94)00062-X

- Fiore, M., Jaen, C., Baker, T., Bailey, W., Bennett, G., Benowitz, N., ... Williams, C. (2008). A clinical practice guideline for treating tobacco use and dependence: 2008 update: A U.S. public health service report. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 35(2), 158–176. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4465757/
- Forman, J., Harris, J., Lorencatto, F., McEwen, A., & Duaso, M. (2017). National survey on smoking and smoking cessation education within UK midwifery school curricula. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, (19)5, 591–596. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/ntr/ntw230
- GraphPad. (2019). QuickCalcs. Retrieved from https://www.graphpad.com/quickcalcs/
- Grove, S., Burns, N., & Gray, J. (2013). *The practice of nursing research: Appraisal,* synthesis, and generation of evidence (7<sup>th</sup> ed.). St. Louis, MO: Sanders Elsevier.
- Halvari, A. E. M., Halvari, H., Bjornebekk, G., & Deci, E. L. (2012). Motivation for dental home care: Testing a self-determination theory model. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 42(1), 1-39. Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&db=edsgea&AN=edsgcl.276921588&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Healthy People 2020. (2011). Tobacco use. Retrieved from https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/tobacco-use/objectives
- Hodges, B. C., & Videto, D. M. (2011). Assessment and planning in health programs (2nd ed.). Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning.

- Janis, I. L., & Mann, L. (1977). Decision making: A psychological analysis of conflict, choice, and commitment. New York, NY, US: Free Press.
- Macro-theory. (2018). In *Oxford's Dictionaries*. (2018). Retrieved from https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/macro-theory
- Matten, P., Morrison, V., Rutledge, D., Chen, T., Chung, E., & Wong, S. (2011).

  Evaluation of tobacco cessation classes aimed at hospital staff nurses. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *38*(1), 67-73. Retrieved from https://eds-a-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=4e67c8db-855a-4f8b-b9af-304a63d47d90%40sdc-v-sessmgr03
- Metropolitan Development Council. (2018). About MDC. Retrieved from https://mdc-hope.org/about
- Murcia, J., Roman, M., Galindo, C., Alonso, N., & Gonzalez-Cutre, D. (2008). Peers' influence on exercise enjoyment: A self-determination theory approach. *Journal of Sports Science and Medicine*, 7, 23–31. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3763348/pdf/jssm-07-23.pdf
- National Alliance for Mental Illness. (2016). *Public policy platform of the National*\*Alliance on Mental Illness (12<sup>th</sup> ed.). Retrieved from

  https://www.nami.org/NAMI/media/NAMI-Media/downloads/Public-Policy-Platform\_9-22-14.pdf

- Niemiec, C. P. & Ryan, R. M. (2009). Autonomy, competence, and relatedness in the classroom: Applying self-determination theory to educational practice. *Theory in Research and Education*.7(2), 133-144. Retrieved from https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1477878509104318
- Obtel, M., Slama, K., Abda, N., Tachfouti, N., Berraho, M., Obtel, I., ... Nejjari, C. (2014). Nurses' knowledge, attitudes and practice in anti-smoking campaigns in Morocco. *Open Access Library Journal*, 1(3), 1-8. Retrieved from http://file.scirp.org/pdf/OALibJ\_2016022910544644.pdf
- Price, J. H., Jordan, T. R., Jeffrey, J. D., Stanley, M. S., & Price, J. A. (2008). Tobacco intervention training in graduate psychiatric nursing education programs. *Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association*, 14, 117-124. Retrieved from https://journals-sagepub-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/doi/pdf/10.1177/1078390307311973
- Prochaska, J. O., & DiClemente, C. C. (1983). Stages and processes of self-change of smoking: Toward an integrative model of change. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *51*(3), 390-395. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.51.3.390
- Prochaska, J. O., DiClemente, C. C., & Norcross, J. C. (1992). In search of how people change. Applications to addictive behaviors. *The American Psychologist*, 47(9), 1102-1114. Retrieved from https://web-a-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=2&sid=5f0ebd74-3985-40fb-b12a-107499ba5864%40sdc-v-sessmgr06

- Prochaska, J. O., DiClemente, C. C., Velicer, W. F., Ginpil, S., & Norcross, J. C. (1985).

  Predicting change in smoking status for self-changers. *Addictive Behaviors*, 10(4), 395-406. Retrieved from

  https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/030646038590036X?via%3

  Dihub
- Prochaska, J. O., & Goldstein, M. G. (1991). Process of smoking cessation: Implications for clinicians. *Clinics in Chest Medicine*. *12*(4), 727-35. PubMed PMID: 1747990. Retrieved from https://europepmc.org/abstract/med/1747990
- Prochaska, J. O., Redding, C. A., & Evers, K. (2008). The transtheoretical model and stages of change. In Glanz, K., Rimer, B. K., & Viswanath, K. V. (Eds.), *Health behavior and health education: Theory, research, and practice* (pp. 170-222). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, Inc.
- Prochaska, J. O., & Velicer, W.F. (1997). The transtheoretical model of health behavior change. (Invited paper). *American Journal of Health Promotion*, *12*, 38-48.

  PMID: 10170434. doi: https://doi.org/10.4278%2F0890-1171-12.1.38
- Prochaska, J. O., Velicer, W. F., DiClemente, C. C., & Fava, J. L. (1988). Measuring processes of change: Applications to the cessation of smoking. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *56*, 520-528. PMID: 3198809. Retrieved from

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Wayne\_Velicer/publication/19957106\_Meas uring\_Processes\_of\_Change\_Applications\_to\_the\_Cessation\_of\_Smoking/links/0 fcfd50b6847799cd9000000.pdf

- Prochaska, J. O., Velicer, W. F., Rossi, J. S., Goldstein, M. G., Marcus, B. H., Rakowski, W., ... Rossi, S. R. (1994). Stages of change and decisional balance for 12

  Problem behaviors. *Health Psychology*, *13*, 39-46. PMID: 8168470. Retrieved from
  - https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Wayne\_Velicer/publication/15029731\_Stage s\_of\_Change\_and\_Decisional\_Balance\_for\_12\_Problem\_Behaviors/links/0c9605 1d3048ab2272000000/Stages-of-Change-and-Decisional-Balance-for-12-Problem-Behaviors.pdf
- Registered Nurses Association of Ontario. (2017). Clinical best practice guidelines:

  Integrating tobacco interventions into daily practice. Retrieved from

  https://rnao.ca/sites/rnaoca/files/bpg/FINAL\_TOBACCO\_INTERVENTION\_WE

  B.pdf
- Rezk-Hanna, M., Sarna, L., Petersen, A. B., Wells, M., Nohavova, I., & Bialous, S.
  (2018.). Attitudes, barriers and facilitators to smoking cessation among Central and Eastern European nurses: A focus group study. *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 35, 39–46. Retrieved from https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.ejon.2018.04.001
- Rice, V., Heath, L., Livingstone-Banks, J., & Hartmann-Boyce, J. (2017). Nursing interventions for smoking cessation. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 12. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001188.pub5

- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of Intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68-78. Retrieved from https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=17b18032-8816-4f13-908e-fadaefcd5c1b%40sessionmgr103
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2002). An overview of self-determination theory. In E. L. Deci & R. M. Ryan (Eds.), *Handbook of self-determination research* (pp. 3-33). Rochester, NY: University of Rochester Press
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Self-determination theory: Basic psychological needs

  In motivation, development, and wellness. New York: Guilford Publishing
- Sarna, L. P., Bialous, S. A., Kralikova, E., Kmetova, A., Felbrova, V., Kulovana, S., ... Brook, J. K. (2014). Impact of a smoking cessation educational program on nurses' interventions. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, (5), 314. Retrieved from https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/jnu.12086
- Sarna L., Bialous, S., Nandy, K., Antonio, A. L. M., & Yang, Q. (2014). Changes in smoking prevalences among health care professionals from 2003 to 2010-2011. The Journal of the American Medical Association, 311(2), 197–199. doi: 10.1001
- Sarna, L., Bialous, S., Wells, M., Kotlerman, J., Wewers, M., & Froelicher, E. (2009). Frequency of nurses' smoking cessation interventions: Report from a national survey. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *18*, 2066-2077. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2009.02796.x

- Sheals, K., Tombor, I., McNeill, A., & Shahab, L. (2016). A mixed-method systematic review and meta-analysis of mental health professionals' attitudes toward smoking and smoking cessation among people with mental illnesses. *Addiction*, 111(9):1536-1553. doi: 10.1111/add.13387
- Sharpe, T., Alsahlanee, A., Ward, K., & Doyle, F. (2018). Systematic review of clinician-reported barriers to provision of smoking cessation interventions in hospital inpatient settings. *Journal of Smoking Cessation*, (13)4, 233-243. Retrieved from https://epubs.rcsi.ie/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1140&context=psycholart
- Sheffer, C. E., Barone, C., & Anders, M. E. (2011). Training nurses in the treatment of tobacco use and dependence: Pre- and post-training results. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *67*(1), 176–183. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3057535/pdf/nihms238519.pdf
- Shiffman, S., Dresler, C. M., & Rohay, J.M. (2004). Successful treatment with a nicotine lozenge of smokers with prior failure in pharmacological therapy. *Addiction*, *99*, 83-92. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2004.00576.x
- Silverman, J. J., Galanter, M., Jackson-Triche, M., Jacobs, D. G., Lomax, J. W., Riba, M. B., ... Yager, J. (2015). The American psychiatric association practice guidelines for the psychiatric evaluation of adults. *The American Journal of psychiatry*, 172(8), 798-802. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.1720501
- Sohn, M., Ahn, Y., Park, H., & Lee, M. (2012). Simulation-based smoking cessation Intervention education for undergraduate nursing students. *Nurse Education*

- Today, 32(8), 868-872. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2011.11.005.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2015). National survey on drug use and health (NSDUH) 2012-2014: Smoking and mental health. Retrieved from http://samhsa.gov/data/
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). (2017).

  Mental and substance use disorders. Retrieved from

  https://www.samhsa.gov/disorders
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2018). Key substance use and mental health indicators in the United States: Results from the 2017 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (HHS Publication No. SMA 18-5068, NSDUH Series H-53). Rockville, MD: Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Retrieved from https://www.samhsa.gov/data/
- Sweet, K. (n.d.) What is an educational module? Retrieved from http:classroom.sysnony.com/what-educational-module-4739884.html
- Terry, A. J. (2015). *Clinical research for the doctor of nursing practice*. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Tobacco Dependence Survey. (2008). Retrieved from http://www.apna.org/i4a/pages/index.cfm?pageid=3654.
- Tobacco Free Nurses. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://tobaccofreenurses.org/
- University of California San Francisco. (2013). RX for change. Retrieved from http://rxforchange.ucsf.edu/

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS). (2014). The health consequences of smoking-50 years of progress: A report of the surgeon general.
  Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data\_statistics/sgr/50th-anniversary/">https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data\_statistics/sgr/50th-anniversary/</a>
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF). (2017). Final recommendation statement: Tobacco smoking cessation in adults, including pregnant women:
  Behavioral and pharmacotherapy interventions September 2017. Retrieved from https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Docuement/RecomendationS tatementFinal/tobacco-use-in-adults-and-pregnant-women-counseling-andInterventions.
- VanDevanter, N., Katigbak, C., Naegle, M., Zhou, S., Sherman, S., & Weitzman, M. (2017). Nursing education to reduce use of tobacco and alternative tobacco products: Change is imperative. *Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association*, 23(6), 414–421. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/1078390317711252
- Walden University. (2017). Manual for quality improvements projects. Retrieved from https://academicguides.waldenu.edu/ld.php?content\_id=32804345

- Wewers, M. E., Kidd, K., Armbruster, D., & Sarna, L. (2004). Tobacco dependence curricula in U.S. baccalaureate and graduate nursing education. *Nursing Outlook*, 52(2), 95-101. doi: Tobacco dependence curricula in U.S. baccalaureate and graduate nursing education
- Ward-Smith, P., Peterson, J. A., & Kimble, S. (2014). Student nurse perception of doctoral graduate programs. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, 4(5), 36-41. doi:10.5430/jnep.v4n5p36
- Washington State Department of Health. (2015). Tobacco related disparities in

  Washington state. Retrieved from

  https://www.doh.wa.gov/Portals/1/Documents/Pubs/340-240
  TobaccoRelatedDisparities.pdf
- Washington State Department of Health. (2017). Adult tobacco indicators in 2016 behavioral risk factor surveillance system Washington state. (2017). Retrieved from https://www.doh.wa.gov/Portals/1/Documents/Pubs/340-324-2016BRFSSTobaccoReport.pdf
- Washington State Legislature. (2005). Smoking in public places law RCW 70.160.

  Retrieved from http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=70.160
- White, K. M., & Dudley-Brown, S. (2012). *Translation of evidence into nursing and health care practice*. New York, NY: Springer.

- Williams, G. C., Gagné, M., Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2002). Facilitating autonomous motivation for smoking cessation. *Health Psychology: Official Journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 21(1), 40–50. Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohostcom/login.aspx? direct=true&db=mnh&AN=11846344&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Williams, G. C., Levesque, C., Zeldman, A., Wright, S., & Deci, E. (2003). Health care practitioners' motivation for tobacco-dependence counseling, *Health Education Research*, 18(5), 538–553. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyf042
- Williams, G. C., McGregor, H. A., Sharp, D., Levesque, C., Kouides, R. W., Ryan, R.
  M., & Deci, E. L. (2006). Testing a self-determination theory intervention for motivating tobacco cessation: Supporting autonomy and competence in a clinical trial. *Health Psychology*, 25(1), 91-101. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.25.1.91
- Xu, X., Bishop, E. E., Kennedy, S. M., Simpson, S. A., & Pechacek, T. F. (2015). Annual healthcare spending attributable to cigarette smoking: An update. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 48(3), 326–333. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2014.10.012

## Appendix A: Permission to Use the Skills and Confidence for Smoking Cessation Tool



### **Oncology Nursing Society**

125 Enterprise Drive • Pittsburgh: PA 15275-1214
Toti Free: 865-257-40NS • Phone: 412-859-6100 • Fax: 412-859-6165
help ons.org • www.ons.org

#### ONS PERMISSION/LICENSING FORM

DATE OF REQUEST: January 2, 2019

#### **IDENTIFICATION OF INFORMATION TO BE REUSED:**

Specific product, publication, or content that you wish to reuse: Matten, P., Morrison, V., Rutledge, D., Chen, T.,

Chung, E., & Wong, S. (2011). Evaluation of tobacco cessation classes aimed at hospital staff nurses.

Oncology Nursing Forum, 38(1), 67-73. Year of publication: 2011, Table 4 (page 70)

Page number(s) if a print item: pp. 70 (Table 4) Website address if from a web page: N/A

Any additional information related to where exactly you saw or obtained the content:

#### INFORMATION ABOUT REQUESTOR:

Name: Marchell Rene Spielmann

Company or institution: Walden University Street address: 1005 Washington Avenue, #900

City: Minneapolis State: MN Zip/postal code: 55401 Country: USA

Phone number: 1 866 492 5336 E-mail address: www.waldenu.edu

Are you (or the person you are representing) a contributing author of the ONS material you wish to reuse? No

Company or institution that will publish or otherwise reuse the content: Walden University

Purpose (staff training, classroom teaching, patient education, etc.): Dissertation files; will be used for nursing

education module

Who will the viewers be? Nurses Will a fee be charged to view? No

#### PERMISSION REQUEST REPLY

$\nabla$	Barren leelan l	e meanaged I	for a marine	anton for	-FERTIE	della-
	Permission is	s granteu i	for a permi	ission ree	01.20.012	. goilars

Permission is not granted.

#### PERMISSION IS SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:

A signed copy of this agreement must be received by the Oncology Nursing Society (ONS) before permission to reuse
the requested content is considered to be officially approved and granted.

- 2. No payment is required
- 3. The following statement must accompany the reprinted figure when it appears in the new book.
- Article provided courtesy of the Oncology Nursing Society (ONS). Copyright © 2011 by ONS. All rights reserved.
   Distributing this article without the permission of ONS is strictly prohibited. Visit www.ons.org to learn more about ONS's award-winning publications.
- 5. Permission is granted for worldwide, nonexclusive, one-time, nontransferrable use only, as described herein.
- 6. All rights not expressly granted herein are exclusively reserved to ONS.



## **Oncology Nursing Society**

125 Enterprise Drive • Pittsburgh, PA 15275-1214
Toll Free: 866-257-40MS • Phone: 412-859-6100 • Fax: 412-859-6165
help ons.org • www.ons.org

 Failure to comply with the terms and conditions of this agreement automatically and immediately voids permission approval without refunding of any permission fees.

Printed Name:	_ M. Rei	nd Spielm	аии
Job Title:	Student.	Walden	University

### Appendix B: Recruitment

February 18, 2019

I am pleased to announce that I am ready to begin my doctor of nursing project on tobacco education for nurses working in the inpatient psychiatric setting.

Nurses are the largest group of health professionals and have great potential to address the issues of tobacco use. Studies have shown that in general nurses are not providing treatment or education to clients about tobacco. The lack of engagement is partly due to nurse's not receiving adequate education in their school's of nursing and no exposure to continuing education after graduation. Another factor identified as why nurse's are not involved, is a nurse's smoking status. Regardless of a nurse's smoking status, tobacco interventions should be provided to our clients. We are in an enviable position to provide treatment and education to our clients and should take advantage of this opportunity.

The purpose of my project is to support nurses in gaining the skills to feel they have the knowledge, confidence, and competence to provide tobacco treatment to patients. I also want to support nurses to be autonomous in their quest to improve the health outcomes of individuals with a mental health disorder.

Prior to the training and after the training, each participant will need to complete de-identified pre-test/post-test knowledge survey and a Skills and Confidence for Tobacco Cessation Training survey which is aimed to assess changes in knowledge, confidence, and skills. The project consists of six education modules which are a part of the RX for change program developed by the University of California, San Francisco. Each participant will need to establish a log in ID for the RX for change curriculum. We will be using the psychiatry RX for change modules which has 6 core modules. I anticipate 1 hour weekly for 4 weeks (240 minutes) will be needed to complete the modules. The self-paced learning modules will be accessed via the web. However, for those nurses who wish more individualized training, weekly training sessions or 1:1 sessions will be arranged. I am in the process of applying for continuing education credits for the education program.

It is important to me that all participants feel engaged, supported, and motivated to learn how to help our clients to decrease tobacco use.

Planned schedule:

Week of February 18<sup>th</sup> – Recruitment

Week of February 25<sup>th</sup> - Complete the demographic data sheet, pre-tests on knowledge survey and the Skills and Confidence for Smoking Cessation survey, sign consent for anonymous questionnaires, and establish a log-in for RX for Change http://rxforchange.ucsf.edu/

Week of March 4<sup>th</sup> thru March 31<sup>st</sup> – Complete the education modules

Week of April 1<sup>st</sup> – Complete the post-test knowledge survey and the Skills and

Confidence for Smoking Cessation survey

I am excited to share my journey with you and look forward to implementing the project. If you have questions, please email me at mspielmann@mdc-hope.org or marchell.spielmann@waldenu.edu or call 253 961 7754.

Thank You,

M. Rene Spielmann, ARNPDoctoral StudentWalden University

### Appendix C: Smoking Knowledge Tool

- 1. Estimates of the impact of smoking-attributable estimated costs include:
  - a. \$150 billion in health care expense and loss of work productivity
  - b. \$288 billion in health care expense and loss of work productivity
  - c. More than one million deaths annually and \$200 billion in health care expense and loss of work productivity
  - d. 700,000 deaths annually and \$150 billion in health care expense and loss of work productivity
- 2. Estimates of the number of cigarettes sold in the US include:
  - a. 31% to 46% are smoked by adults with mental health conditions
  - b. 60% are smoked by adults with mental health conditions
  - c. 75% are smoked by adults with mental health conditions
  - d. Less than 25% are smoked by adults with mental health conditions
- 3. Persons with mental health conditions who smoke:
  - a. Die at the same rate as those who smoke without a mental health condition
  - b. Die on average, 1-2 years prematurely
  - c. Die on average, 5-10 years prematurely
  - c. Die on average, 15-25 years prematurely
- 4. Health risks of smoking include:
  - a. An increased risk of various forms of dementia, in particular Alzheimer's disease
  - b. No increased risk of various forms of dementia

- c. Gray matter density hyper proliferation
- d. Gray matter density hypo proliferation
- 5. Tobacco and cannabis smoking cessation can:
  - a. Lead to intoxication with any antipsychotic
  - b. Be helpful when taking antipsychotic medications
  - c. Lead to intoxication with Clozapine or Olanzapine
  - d. Lead to intoxication with Sertraline or Fluoxetine
- 6. What statement is NOT TRUE regarding second hand smoke (SHS)?
  - a. SHS has been linked to sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS)
  - b. Exposure to second hand smoke is less risky than actively smoking
  - c. Exposure to SHS may cause immediate respiratory and cardiovascular effects
  - d. Separating smokers from non-smokers has been effective in eliminating exposure to SHS
- 7. The neurobiological basis for nicotine addiction is:
  - a. Nicotine activates the glutamate reward pathway in the brain, which reinforces continued tobacco use
  - b. Nicotine activates the serotonin reward pathway in the brain, which reinforces continued tobacco use
  - c. Nicotine activates the dopamine reward pathway in the brain, which reinforces continued tobacco use.
  - d. There is no neurobiological basis for nicotine addiction

- 8. Perceptions of psychiatric providers include:
  - a. smokers with mental health disorder do not want to quit and quitting smoking is too stressful for these patients
  - b. smokers with mental health disorder don't want to quit and quitting smoking is not stressful for these patients
  - c. smokers with mental health disorder want to quit and quitting smoking is too stressful for these patients
  - d. smokers with mental health disorder want to quit and quitting smoking is not stressful for these patients
- 9. What specialty is least likely to address tobacco use with their patients?
  - a. Family Medicine
  - b. Internal Medicine
  - c. Psychiatry
  - d. OB/GYN
- 10. Withdrawal effects of quitting peak 24-48 hours after quitting and subside within 2-4 weeks, which symptoms are NOT associated with withdrawal effects:
  - a. Irritability/frustration/anger
  - b. Euphoria or giddiness
  - c. Insomnia and fatigue
  - d. Anxiety or nervousness
- 11. Smoking in adolescence is associated with:
  - a. psychiatric disorders in adulthood

- b. psychiatric disorders in childhood
- c. no correlation has been found between adolescent smoking and psychiatric disorders in adulthood
- d. a correlation has been found between adolescent smoking and higher grades
- 12. It is important to assess a patient's readiness to quit. The difference between precontemplation and contemplation is:
  - a. The number of quit attempts
  - b. The amount of time since the last cigarette smoked
  - c. The difference between not thinking about quitting and considering to quit
  - d. Whether a quit date has been set
- 13. The 5A's recommended through the US Public Health Service Practice Guidelines include:
  - a. Ask, Attempt, Advise, Allow, Arrange
  - b. Ask, Assess, Authorize, Allow, Adjust
  - c. Ask, Advise, Assess, Assist, Arrange
  - d. Advise, Ask, Advice, Arrange, Assist
- 14. Strategies for patients not ready to quit include all EXCEPT:
  - a. Demonstrate empathy, foster communication
  - b. Ask non-invasive and open-ended questions; identify reasons for tobacco use
  - c. Advise to quit and provide information
  - d. Tell the patient ow bad tobacco is in a judgmental manner
- 15. Within 2 weeks to 3 months after quitting, the following occurs:

- a. <u>Circulation improves</u>, <u>walking becomes easier</u>, <u>and lung function increases up</u> to 30%
- b. Circulation improves, walking becomes more difficult, and lung function increases by 50%
- c. Circulation is not affected, walking becomes easier, and lung function increases by 30%
- d. Circulation is not affected, walking becomes more difficult, and lung function increased by 30%
- 16. An alternative to the 5A's approach can be brief counseling, which can be effective and consists of:
  - a. Ask about tobacco use, advise patient about the dangers of tobacco, and refer for follow-up counseling
  - b. Ask about tobacco use, accept that the patient does not want to quit and avoid further conversations about tobacco, refer patients if they are willing to establish a quit date
  - c. Ask about tobacco use, advise tobacco users to quit, refer to resources such as follow-up counseling
  - d.\_Ask about tobacco use, enter information in the record, provide nicotine replacement therapy only to those patients who appear to be having withdrawal symptoms
- 17. First line nicotine replacement therapy includes:
  - a. Clonidine

- b. Nicotine gum, nicotine patch, and nicotine nasal spray
- c. Nortriptyline
- d. Albuterol Inhaler
- 18. The rationale for using nicotine replacement products includes the fact that using NRTs approximately doubles quit rates. Which of the following is INCORRECT:
  - a. Using NRTs reduces physical withdrawal from nicotine
  - b Using NRTs will ensure that a craving for a cigarette will not occur in the

#### future

- Using NRTs eliminates the immediate, reinforcing effects of nicotine that is rapidly absorbed via tobacco smoke
- d. Allows patient to focus on behavioral and psychological aspects of tobacco cessation
- 19. Among depressed patients who quit smoking the following is true:
  - a. No increase in suicidality
  - b. No increase in psych hospitalization
  - c. No difference in use of marijuana, stimulants or opiates
  - d. All of the above are correct
- 20. In the psychiatric setting, tobacco treatment:
  - a. <u>Is shown to be generally effective with current available interventions</u>
  - Is always effective with current available interventions and homeopathic therapies
  - d. Is shown to increase psychiatric symptoms

e. Decreases abstinence rates with integration into mental health treatment

# Appendix D: Skills and Confidence for Smoking Cessation Tool

## **Smoking Cessation Counseling Skills**

**Instructions:** Please rate your smoking cessation counseling skills and confidence by circling one of the numbers for each. Smoking cessation counseling skills values range from 0 to 4 with 0 as no skills, 1 as poor, 2 as good, 3 as very good, and 4 as excellent.

Smoking cessation confidence skills values range from 0 to 4 with 0 as no skills, 1 as poor, 2 as good, 3 as very good, and 4 as excellent.

1.	Asking patients whether they use tobacco									
	None 0	1	Poor 2	Good 3	4	Very Good	Excellent			
2.	Advisin	g pat	ients to quit							
	None 0	1	Poor 2	Good 3	4	Very Good	Excellent			
3.	Assess	ing p	atients' read	diness to q	uit					
	None 0	1	Poor 2	Good 3	4	Very Good	Excellent			
4.	Providir	ng to	bacco cessa	ation assist	tance					
	None 0	1	Poor 2	Good 3	4	Very Good	Excellent			
5.	Providir	ng pa	atient couns	eling						
	None 0	1	Poor 2	Good 3	4	Very Good	Excellent			
6.	Knowle None 0	dgea 1	ible about a Poor 2	vailable re Good 3	sourc 4	es for patients Very Good	Excellent			

## **Smoking Cessation Confidence**

**Instructions:** Please rate your smoking cessation confidence by circling one of the numbers for each. Smoking cessation confidence values range from 0 to 4 with 0 as not confident, 1 as not very confident, 2 as moderately confident, 3 as very confident and 4 as extremely confident.

1.	Knowledge	of ap	propriate	auestions	to	ask
	Tillo Wildage	or up	propriace	questions	·	abit

Not		Not very		Moderately	Very	Extremely
Confide	ent	Confident		Confident	Confident	Confident
0	1	2	3	4		

2. Skills to counsel for addiction

Not		Not very	/	Moderately	Very	Extremely
Confid	lent	Confider	ıt	Confident	Confident	Confident
0	1	2	3	4		

3. Ability to provide motivations for those trying to quit

Not	N	ot very	Mod	erately	Very	Extre	emely
Confident	Co	onfident	Conf	fident	Confid	lent	Confident
0	1	2	3	4			

4. Knowledge of pharmaceutical products

Not		Not very		Moderately	Very Extremely			
Confid	lent	Confide	ent	Confident	Confident	Confident		
0	1	2	3	4				

5. Ability to know when to refer patients to physicians

Not		Not very	7	Moderately	Very	Extremely
Confid	ent	Confiden	ıt	Confident	Confident	Confident
0	1	2	3	4		

6. Ability to sensitively suggest tobacco cessation

Not		Not very	N	Moderately	Very	Extremely
Confident		Confident		Confident	Confident	Confident
	0	1	2	3	4	

7. Ability to provide adequate counseling

NotNot veryModeratelyVery ExtremelyConfidentConfidentConfidentConfident0123
4

8. Ability to help recent quitters learn coping

9. Ability to counsel those not interested in quitting

Not Not very Moderately Very Extremely
Confident Confident Confident Confident
O 1 2 3 4

Matten et al., 2001, p. 70